IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NO. 2010-TS-00145-SCT

SCHENILLE MARTIN, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF FLOYD L. MARTIN, DECEASED

PETITIONER/PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VERSUS

B & B CONCRETE COMPANY, INC.

RESPONDENT/DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

GRADY F. TOLLISON, JR. ROBERT D. SCHULTZE TOLLISON LAW FIRM., P.A. 103 N. LAMAR AVENUE P. O. BOX 1216 OXFORD, MS 38655 (662) 234-7070

JOSEPH E. ROBERTS, JR.
PITTMAN GERMANY ROBERTS
& WELSH, LLP
P. O. BOX 22985
JACKSON, MS 39225

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WHEN IT DENIED CERTAIN JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND GRANTED CERTAIN OTHERS THAT DENIED PLAINTIFF OF HER RIGHT TO HAVE JURY INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN THAT PRESENTED HER THEORY OF THE CASE.
- 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WHEN THE VERDICT RETURNED BY THE JURY WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL.
- 3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WHEN IT ALLOWED DEFENDANT'S EXPERT TESTIMONY REGARDING THE SPEED OF FLOYD MARTIN'S VEHICLE AT THE TIME OF THE COLLISION.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This suit is brought by Plaintiff Schenille Martin, individually, and on behalf of the wrongful death beneficiaries of Floyd L. Martin for personal injuries and wrongful death pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-7-13 suffered when her husband, Floyd Martin, was struck and killed by a concrete truck owned by Defendant, B & B Concrete Company, Inc., and operated by one of its employees.

II. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

Mrs. Martin filed this suit against B & B Concrete Company, Inc. on April 30, 2007, after her husband was killed in a collision with a B & B Concrete truck. R. 1-3. B & B answered the complaint on June 28, 2007, denying any and all liability to the allegations filed against it and raising numerous defenses and affirmative defenses. R. 6-9. The case was tried before a jury, and a final judgment incorporating the jury verdict in favor of the defendant was entered by the court on October 5, 2009. R. 342. Mrs. Martin then filed a Motion for New Trial pursuant to Rule 59 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure on October 15, 2009. R. 343-391. This Motion was denied by the court on January 5, 2010, and Mrs. Martin timely filed a Notice of Appeal on January 25, 2010. R. 412, 413-14.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 10, 2005, Floyd Martin, a husband and father of three, was killed when he was

¹ Citation to "R" shall refer to page numbers of the Trial Record.

² The citations included in Section II of the Statement of the case that are not relevant to the issues raised on appeal will not be included in the record excerpts in the interest of judicial economy. If, however, it may be necessary to review these pleadings, they can be found in the trial record.

struck by a concrete truck owned by defendant, B & B Concrete Company, Inc.³ T. 154, 308-9. Mr. Martin was traveling northbound on Campground Road/County Road 405 (hereinafter referred to as CR 405) just east of Oxford, Mississippi in Lafayette County. T. 168. As he approached the intersection of MS Highway 6 East/U.S. Highway 278 (hereinafter referred to as Highway 278), Martin decreased his speed and brought his black 1966 Ford truck to a stop near the stop sign located at the intersection of CR 405 and Highway 278. T. 169. Evidence shows that, at the time of the collision, Mr. Martin was either stopped or moving no more than ten miles per hour. T. 215.

Highway 278 is a divided four-lane highway that generally carries traffic east and west. It has numerous center crossings, and it is divided by a grass center median. R. 220. CR 405 is a two-lane county road that intersects Highway 278 just east of Oxford, Mississippi. *Id.* This intersection is quite large in comparison to other intersections along Highway 278 in the area, and traffic traveling northbound on CR 405 has a stop sign posted at the intersection. *Id.*

At the same time that Floyd Martin was traveling north on CR 405, defendant's driver, Anthony Logan, was operating a concrete truck owned by defendant, B&B Concrete. T. 322. Logan was traveling eastbound on Highway 278 carrying six yards of concrete on his way to a job that was located near the intersection. T. 323-25. As defendant's driver approached the unobstructed intersection of Highway 278 and CR 405, he originally did not see Floyd Martin's truck; however, as he moved closer to the intersection, he saw that the front passenger corner of Mr. Martin's truck was two-to-three feet in the right side of the eastbound lane of Highway 278, due to the angle of the intersection. T. 326, 352. Defendant's driver continued with his current

³ Citation to "T" shall refer to page numbers of the Trial Transcript.

course and speed even though he could see that Mr. Martin had stopped a few feet into the right side of the eastbound lane, and although there was no traffic to his left to prevent him from changing lanes, defendant's driver failed to take defensive action to avoid striking Mr. Martin. T. 347-48. As a result of his failure to move left, sound his horn, or reduce his speed, Defendant's 1997 Mack concrete truck slammed into Mr. Martin's vehicle causing fatal injuries that resulted in the untimely death of Floyd Martin. T. 168-71, 342, 347-49.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court committed reversible error by refusing certain jury instructions and granting certain others that denied the plaintiff of her right to have the jury instructed as to her theory of the case. The jury was inadequately and improperly instructed as to the specific claims of negligence that were made and proved by plaintiff, and it was also inadequately and improperly instructed as to the specific duties of defendant's driver as he approached the intersection of Highway 278 and CR 405. These instructions, when read as a whole, failed to fairly announce the law of the case and failed to present plaintiff's theory of the case. The error by the trial court subjected plaintiff to egregious injustice; therefore, the plaintiff is entitled to a new trial on this ground.

The trial court was in error when it entered upheld a jury verdict and entered a judgment in favor of defendant that was against the substantial weight of the evidence presented at trial. Defendant's driver, at trial, presented testimony in which he admitted to engaging in certain conduct that was in violation of the rules of the road. No reasonable juror could conclude that this negligent conduct did not play some contributing role in the collision; however, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the defendant. The trial court erred in entering the verdict in favor of the defendant; therefore, plaintiff is entitled to a new trial.

The trial court was also in error when it allowed the testimony of defendant's expert regarding the speed of Mr. Martin's vehicle at the time of the collision. Upon the original designation of defendant's expert, his only opinion was that the collision occurred in the right hand lane of Highway 278, and he presented no opinion as to the speed of Mr. Martin's vehicle. His opinion was then supplemented on September 2, 2009, twenty-seven days before the trial, and in this supplemental designation, he presented eleven additional "observations," including an

"observation" as to the speed of Mr. Martin's vehicle at the time of the collision. This supplemental designation was not timely filed pursuant to Rule 4.04(A) of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, and the trial court should not have allowed defendant's expert to testify to the "observations" contained therein. This error on the part of the trial court caused extreme prejudice to the plaintiff because defendant's expert was not only allowed to testify as to his vague and open-ended opinion contained in the untimely supplemented designation, but he was also allowed to enhance that opinion by giving speed testimony in much greater detail than the opinion provided in his supplemental report. This ambush tactic employed by the defense did not allow plaintiff to prepare for the testimony of defendant's expert, and it should not have been condoned by the trial court. Due to this abuse of discretion by the trial court, a new trial should be granted in favor of the plaintiff.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WHEN IT DENIED CERTAIN JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND GRANTED CERTAIN OTHERS THAT DENIED PLAINTIFF OF HER RIGHT TO HAVE JURY INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN THAT PRESENTED HER THEORY OF THE CASE.

Rule 59 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides in pertinent part, "A new trial may be granted to all or any of the parties on all or any of the issues in an action in which there has been a trial by jury, for any of the reasons for which new trials have heretofore been granted in actions at law in the courts of Mississippi." Miss. R. Civ. P. 59(a)(1). Pursuant to Mississippi law, a new trial may be granted when, *inter alia*, the jury has been confused by faulty instructions. *Kitchens v. Mississippi Insurance Guaranty Ass* 'n, 560 So. 2d 129, 132 (Miss. 1989). "Jury instructions are to be read together and taken as a whole with no one instruction taken out of place. *Ford v. State*, 975 So. 2d 859, 863 (Miss. 2008). A party at trial is "entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case, however, this entitlement is limited in that the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence." *Id.* A court will only find reversible error where the instructions actually given, read together as a whole, do not "fairly announce the law of the case" and create injustice. *Id.* at 864.

A. The Court Erred in Refusing to Grant Instruction P-2

The trial court was in error when it refused to grant instruction P-2, plaintiff's peremptory instruction. "If the Court finds that the evidence favorable to the non-moving party and the reasonable inferences drawn therefrom present a question for the jury, the peremptory instruction should not be granted." *Tentoni*, 968 So. 2d at 436. Defendant will rely on the contention that questions of fact existed as to defendant's negligence; however, defendant's driver clearly admitted in his testimony at trial that he operated his vehicle in a manner that constituted

violations of the rules of the road. This uncontradicted testimony clearly establishes that defendant's driver was negligent in the breach of his statutory duty and that his negligence was a proximate contributing cause of the accident. Plaintiff is, therefore, entitled to a peremptory instruction on this matter.

B. The Court Erred in not Granting Instruction P-6

The trial court erred when it refused to grant instruction P-6, which is a peremptory instruction as to the negligence of defendant's driver. Instruction P-6 merely instructs the jury as to the issue of negligence and leaves it to make a determination on the issue of proximate cause. This instruction is consistent with Miss. Code Ann. §63-3-505, which requires the operator of a motor vehicle to decrease his speed as he approaches an intersection. Defendant will contend that its driver was in compliance with the statute because the driver was operating below the maximum speed limit when approaching the intersection, but this application of the statute is erroneous because the driver testified that he maintained a constant rate of speed as he approached the intersection rather than decreasing his speed as is clearly required by the law. T. 347. Therefore, the trial court was in error when it failed to instruct the jury that defendant's driver was guilty of negligence.

C. The Court Erred in Refusing to Grant Instruction P-10

The court improperly refused to grant plaintiff's instruction P-10, which required defendant's driver to yield the right-of-way to Mr. Martin after Mr. Martin had yielded the right-of-way to any traffic traveling on Highway 278 that was in the intersection or constituted an immediate hazard, and Mr. Martin had proceeded into the intersection. This instruction was consistent with Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-805 and *Richardson v. Adams*, 223 So. 2d 536 (Miss. 1969), and it was a proper statement of the law with respect to the duties of defendant's driver as

he approached the intersection. Defendant will likely argue that other instructions properly instructed the jury as to the duties of defendant's driver and that P-10 was not a proper statement of the law.

Defendant will argue that instructions P-8, P-13, and D19 cure the error caused by the trial court's refusal of P-10; however, this argument is flawed in that these instructions do not specifically address the theory that was proposed by plaintiff at trial. Plaintiff presented evidence that Mr. Martin yielded the right-of-way before proceeding across Highway 278, Mr. Martin had either stopped or was barely moving at the time of the collision and that Mr. Martin was only two-to-three feet into the eastbound lane of Highway 278 prior to defendant's driver entering the intersection. The jury should have been presented with an instruction on this issue and allowed to make a determination on the validity of plaintiff's theory. The denial of such an instruction constitutes reversible error by the trial court.

Instruction P-8 is insufficient to cure this error because it is merely a general instruction that requires defendant's driver to maintain a proper lookout. It doesn't address his specific duty to yield the right-of-way to a motor vehicle that has previously entered the intersection.

Instruction P-13 is also insufficient because it fails to address Plaintiff's theory of the case. This instruction only instructs the jury as to Logan's duties upon approaching the intersection when he appreciates that Mr. Martin is going to enter the intersection without yielding the right-of-way.

This instruction is prejudicial to the plaintiff and clearly does not address plaintiff's theory that Mr. Martin had stopped and yielded the right-of-way prior to proceeding just a few feet into the right-hand lane of eastbound Highway 278 and does not cure the error caused by the denial of P-10. Similar to P-13, instruction D-19 is also insufficient because it addresses defendant's theory that Mr. Martin did not stop rather than plaintiff's theory that he did.

Defendant will likely argue that P-10 is an improper statement of law because it omitted the duties of Mr. Martin as he approached the intersection. Plaintiff does not concede that P-10 is an improper statement of the law for omitting the duties of Mr. Martin; however, if it is found to be so, such an omission could be cured by one or more of the many given instructions. Instruction P-13 instructed the jury that defendant's driver had the right to assume that Mr. Martin would obey the law, and D-15(a) instructed the jury that Mr. Martin had a duty to maintain a proper lookout and proper control of his vehicle. Further, D-16(a) instructed the jury that Mr. Martin was prohibited from stopping or parking his vehicle in an intersection. The jury was instructed by D-17 that Mr. Martin had a duty to stop at a posted stop sign and yield the right-of-way to other vehicles which have entered the intersection or constitute an immediate hazard. The language in this instruction followed the language in Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-805 as did instruction P-10, and these instructions, when read together, could have clearly and properly instructed the jury as to the drivers' duties to each other under the statute if P-10 had not been denied. Finally, D-19 instructed the jury that Mr. Martin had a duty to obey the stop sign, look for oncoming vehicles, and yield to through traffic, and would cure any error that may have existed in the omission of such a duty instruction in P-10.

Defendant finally argues that P-10 is an improper statement of the law because it did not define the term "immediate hazard." This term is defined in the statute as, "vehicles...which are approaching so closely on said through highway as to constitute an immediate hazard." Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-805. Instruction P-10 addressed defendant's concrete truck being "in the intersection" or being "an immediate hazard," and any reasonable juror could determine that this instruction was referring to a hazard due to the proximity of defendant's concrete truck to the intersection. Aside from the fact that any juror could easily determine the meaning of this term,

the omission, if any, in this instruction was a minor one and could have easily been modified before being sent to the jury if this specific objection had been timely raised.

The trial court was in error when it denied plaintiff's jury instruction P-10. Instruction P-10 was a proper statement of the law and its refusal denied plaintiff of her right to have instructions given that presented her theory of the case. It has been proven that this instruction was not fairly covered in the other instructions, thus the denial of this instruction constitutes reversible error on the part of the trial court.

D. The Court Erred in Refusing to Grant Instruction P-11

The court was in error when it refused to grant plaintiff's instruction P-11. This instruction was consistent with Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-505 and *Greyhound v. Sutton*, 765 So. 2d 1269, 1274 (Miss. 2000), and it was an accurate instruction as to the duties of defendant's driver as he approached the intersection of Highway 278 and CR 405. Defendant will argue that this case is distinguished from *Greyhound* because the driver in *Greyhound* had exceeded the maximum statutory speed limit and that the facts in this case are more applicable to the holding in *Richardson v. Adams*, 223 So. 2d 536 (Miss. 1969). This contention is erroneous, however, because § 63-3-505 was not in effect at the time that *Richardson* was decided.

The statute that was in place at the time *Richardson* was decided was Section 8176 of the Mississippi Code of 1942. Defendant will argue that the court should follow the holding in *Richardson* because the language in Section 8176 is so similar to the language in § 63-3-505. Although this statute is admittedly quite similar to the language in § 63-3-505, the similarity of the language contained in the two statutory provisions will not be the determining factor on this issue. To reach the accurate conclusion on this matter, one must look to the reasoning applied by the Court in *Richardson*.

Section 8176 was divided into two subsections with Subsection (a) setting out the maximum speed limits for state highways and Subsection (b) requiring the operator of a motor vehicle to decrease his speed under certain conditions, such as when the operator is approaching an intersection. According to the Court, subsection (b), when "taken out of context," would lend weight to the contention that the appellant was entitled to an instruction that the appellee was negligent as a matter of law because the appellee admitted that she failed to decrease her speed as she approached the intersection, even though she was already traveling below the statutory maximum. *Richardson*, 223 So. 2d at 537-38. The Court reasoned, however, that Subsection (b) "qualified the allowed maximums when any of the conditions enumerated therein arise." *Id.* at 538. "In order to be in violation of the statute one must fail to reduce his speed from the maximum provided when one of the conditions set out in Subsection (b) is present." *Id.*

When the new version of the Code was passed in 1970, there was a notable change made to the construction of Section 8176. Subsequent to the *Richardson* decision, the legislature drafted the new version of the Code with Subsection (b) standing alone in §63-3-505, and the section setting out the maximum speed limits on state highways was moved to §63-3-501. This change is quite significant because, when the reasoning that was applied in *Richardson* is applied to the current §63-3-505, the statute plainly requires the operator of any motor vehicle to decrease his speed when approaching and crossing an intersection *regardless of his prior speed*. This provision is no longer codified with the statutory maximum speed limits, and its purpose is no longer to qualify those statutory maximums. The effect of the current version of the Code is that all motor vehicle operators are required to decrease speed when approaching and crossing an intersection, and the failure to do so constitutes negligence as a matter of law, regardless of the operator's rate of speed prior to approaching the intersection.

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