IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-00145

SCHENILLE MARTIN, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF FLOYD L. MARTIN, DECEASED

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

VS.

B & B CONCRETE COMPANY, INC.

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE
CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
CAUSE NO. L07-223

BRIEF OF B & B CONCRETE COMPANY, INC., APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

WILTON V. BYARS, III - BAR
J. LUKE BENEDICT - BAR #
DANIEL, COKER, HORTON & BELL, P.A.
265 NORTH LAMAR BOULEVARD, SUITE R
POST OFFICE BOX 1396
OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI 38655-1396
(662) 232-8979

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The jury instructions actually given must be read as a whole to determine whether a jury has been incorrectly instructed. In this case, when so read, the instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice. Plaintiff's theory of the case was properly presented through the instructions as a whole. Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate a miscarriage of justice resulted requiring reversal.

A view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict results in the inescapable conclusion that the jury verdict should be affirmed. The verdict was not so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence such that allowing it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. B & B elicited eyewitness testimony, submitted photographs depicting the accident scene, and articulated a plausible theory concerning how the accident occurred. The facts presented by B & B proved that Floyd Martin, who had a stop sign on County Road 405, failed to yield the right-of-way as he ran the stop sign and proceeded into the intersection and collided with the B & B concrete truck on Highway 278. Notwithstanding his best efforts, the B & B driver did not have enough time to avoid the Martin pickup. Although plaintiff also had a theory of how the accident occurred, both theories were presented to the jury and the jury was entitled to decide which to credit. After being properly instructed on the law, the jury chose to believe that Mr. Martin's actions were the sole cause of the accident.

During the trial, it was within the sound discretion of the Court to allow B & B's expert to testify as to his supplemental opinion, especially since plaintiff's expert was deposed following

his supplemental opinion which offered a new theory of the case. The Court's decision to allow the testimony from B & B's expert was well-reasoned and fair considering the circumstances of plaintiff's expert designation and supplementation.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Jury Instructions Fairly Announced The Law Of The Case

In determining whether reversible error lies in the granting or refusal of jury instructions, the jury instructions actually given must be read as a whole to determine whether a jury has been correctly instructed. *Haggerty v. Foster*, 838 So. 2d 948, 953 (Miss. 2002). When so read, if the jury instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, no reversible error will be found. *Id.* It is improper to consider excerpts from the jury instructions or to evaluate portions of the jury instructions out of context since the instructions must be considered with the other instructions given. *Haggerty*, 838 So. 2d at 954. As set forth below, the jury was properly instructed in this case.

1. The Court Properly Denied Instruction P-2: Plaintiff's Jury Instruction 2 was a peremptory instruction as to liability in favor of the plaintiff. The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that a peremptory instruction should not be granted when evidence favorable to the non-moving party and the reasonable inferences therefrom present a question for the jury. *Tentoni v. Slayden*, 968 So. 2d 431, 436 (Miss. 2007).

It is unclear from this portion of Appellant's Brief which duty she alleges was violated by B & B's driver, Anthony Logan. Moreover, there is no citation to any part of the record in which Logan admitted to any such breach. Plaintiff alleged that Logan was negligent by violating Miss. Code Ann. §§ 63-3-505 ("Conditions under which speed must be decreased") and 805 ("Vehicles

entering through highway"), as well as by failing to maintain a proper lookout and failing to take proper precautions in response to Mr. Martin entering the intersection. The Mississippi Supreme Court has rejected the argument that a driver, such as Anthony Logan, was negligent per se when the driver did not reduce his already decreased speed, when approaching an intersection. Richardson v. Adams, 223 So. 2d 536 (Miss. 1969). It was undisputed at trial, even by plaintiff's expert witness, that Logan was traveling considerably less than the posted speed limit, approximately 45 to 55 miles per hour, at the time of the collision. T.T. 324. As such, Mr. Logan was traveling between 10 and 20 miles under the posted speed limit of 65 miles per hour at all relevant times. Mr. Logan was familiar with Highway 278 and the intersections that he was going to encounter as he traveled eastbound, so he chose to travel at a decreased speed. T.T. 324-325. Accordingly, Logan was not in violation of § 63-3-505 for failure to reduce his speed. The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that a driver's failure to reduce speed upon approaching an intersection is not a violation if the driver is traveling at a speed less than the maximum speed limit. Richardson v. Adams, 223 So. 2d 536 (Miss. 1969). Logic mandates that it is not when a driver decreases his or her speed prior to encountering an intersection, but whether that driver decreases his or her speed prior to encountering an intersection

As pointed out by plaintiff in her Appellant's Brief, *Richardson* dealt with a predecessor statute to Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-505. At that time, the maximum speed was part of the same statute that addressed decreasing one's speed. Presently, the maximum speed statute is found in the same series of statutes at Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-501. These statutes are both contained in Article 11 entitled, "Restrictions On Speed; Use of Radar." Merely splitting the two sections does not change the common sense reading of *Richardson*.

In *Richardson*, the plaintiff requested a peremptory jury instruction as to negligence after the defendant admitted that she failed to decrease her already reduced speed upon approaching an intersection. Richardson, 223 So. 2d at 537. The Court stated that if plaintiff's contention was correct he would have been only entitled to an instruction that defendant's failure to reduce her speed was negligence and if such negligence caused or contributed to the accident then he was entitled to a verdict against her. Id. The Court stated that it could not agree with plaintiff's basic contention that defendant's failure to reduce her speed was negligence as a matter of law. Id. Rather, the actions of the defendant, as in this case, presented a jury issue. Id. Plaintiff was allowed to present this theory to the jury, but the jury rejected it. As explained above, the first part of the law sets the maximum speed limits permissible on the state highways. A driver must fail to reduce his speed from the maximum provided when one of the conditions set out is present to be considered a violation of the law. Id. In Richardson, as in the instant case, the defendant was traveling at a speed less than the maximum as defendant approached the intersection and whether the failure to further reduce their speed under the prevailing circumstances was negligence was a question of fact for the jury to determine. *Id*.

Plaintiff's assertion that the law requires the operator of a motor vehicle to decrease his speed when approaching an intersection "regardless of his prior speed" makes no practical sense. Taken to its logical extreme, a driver traveling 65 miles an hour who slows down to 64, is within the protection of the statute, but a driver traveling 30 miles per hour who does not slow down is negligent. The law does not favor illogical results. *McKlemurry v. State*, 417 So. 2d 554 (Miss. 1982). In the instant case, B & B's driver was traveling 10 to 20 miles per hour below the posted speed limit and it would be illogical to grant plaintiff a peremptory instruction for failing to further

reduce his speed. In the alternative, the jury could have easily inferred that Anthony Logan decreased his speed in compliance with § 63-3-505 as he was traveling at approximately 45 to 55 miles per hour at the time of the collision.

The issue concerning whether Mr. Martin had entered the intersection was a disputed issue of fact that was decided against the plaintiff. Concerning Mr. Logan's actions when faced with Mr. Martin running the stop sign, the proof was clear that, prior to impact, Mr. Logan let off the accelerator, checked his mirrors and began steering to the left. T.T. 330-331. There was also testimony that, taking the air lag into account when viewing the skid marks of the dual tires on the rear of the concrete truck, Logan likely attempted to apply his brakes before impact. T.T. 444-445, 458-459. After viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to B & B, questions of fact existed, such as whether Mr. Martin failed to decrease his speed, ran the stop sign, and entered the intersection when it was unsafe to do so, and the jury was properly charged with resolving the factual issues. A peremptory instruction in plaintiff's favor was properly denied.

2. The Court Properly Denied Instruction P-6: Plaintiff's Jury Instruction 6 was simply another peremptory instruction as to liability in favor of the plaintiff. As stated above, a peremptory instruction should not be granted when evidence favorable to the non-moving party and the reasonable inferences therefrom present a question for the jury. *Id.* Plaintiff discusses the application of Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-505 at this point in her brief, and this statute has been addressed in the preceding section of this response. If § 63-3-505 even applies under this factual scenario, the jury could have inferred that the B & B driver decreased his speed in compliance with § 63-3-505 as he was traveling at approximately 45 to 55 miles per hour at the time of the accident in a 65 mile per hour zone. By traveling 10 to 20 miles per hour below the posted speed

limit, it would be unreasonable to grant plaintiff a peremptory instruction based on him not further reducing his speed. B & B presented evidence that Logan's view of vehicles approaching the highway from the county road was obstructed by a tree line and that when he was able to see that Martin would not stop as required by law, he let off the accelerator, checked his mirrors, and steered to the left to avoid Martin, but did not have enough time to avoid the collision. Plaintiff's Exhibit 3, Bates 108, 126, T.T. 133, 325-327; 330-331, 458-459. Eyewitness Ricky Willingham testified that Mr. Martin ran the stop sign without ever slowing down. T.T. 365-366. B & B's expert accident reconstructionist testified that Mr. Logan applied his brakes prior to the collision. T.T. 444-445, 458-459. Accordingly, issues of fact existed such that a peremptory instruction should not have been given.

3. The Court Properly Denied Instruction P-10: Plaintiff's Jury Instruction 10 regarding the duties of B & B's driver should not be read in isolation from the instructions which were given. This particular instruction dealt with vehicles entering a through highway which was plaintiff's first "alternate theory," the first theory being that the accident occurred off of the roadway. In addition to granting the more general plaintiff's Jury Instruction 8, the Court granted plaintiff's Jury Instruction 13 and defendant's Jury Instruction 19 on the issue of Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-805. The Court also granted another "right of way" instruction by way of defendant's Jury Instruction 19. These instructions, when considered along with the other instructions given, combined to correctly instruct the jury as to the duties of B & B's driver. Plaintiff failed to define "immediate hazard" in Plaintiff's Jury Instruction 10 which was defined in the statute as "vehicles which are approaching so closely on said through highway as to constitute an immediate hazard" and also omitted the duties owed by Mr. Martin to trigger the duties owed by Anthony Logan.

Plaintiff's Jury Instruction 10 was an incomplete statement of law and did not fully set out the language of Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-805 and was properly denied on that basis as well as being cumulative.

4. The Court Properly Denied Instruction P-11: Plaintiff's Jury Instruction 11 regarding the duties of B & B's driver to reduce his speed should not have been given as discussed above. Unlike the *Greyhound* case relied upon by the plaintiff where the bus driver was exceeding the speed limit, it was uncontradicted at trial that B & B's driver was traveling at a speed less than the maximum speed limit as he approached the intersection. T.T. 324. Mr. Logan was familiar with Highway 278 and the intersections that he was going to encounter as he traveled eastbound, so he chose to travel at a decreased speed. T.T. 324-325. Accordingly, Logan would not have been in violation of § 63-3-505 for failure to reduce his speed pursuant to *Richardson* as described at length above.

The Court granted plaintiff's Jury Instruction 8, plaintiff's Jury Instruction 13, defendant's Jury Instruction 15, defendant's Jury Instruction 17, plaintiff's Jury Instruction 7, and defendant's Jury Instruction 19 which, when considered along with the other instructions given, combined to correctly instruct the jury as to the duties of B & B's driver. In the alternative, the jury could have inferred that B & B's driver decreased his speed in compliance with § 63-3-505 as he was traveling at approximately 45 to 55 miles per hour at the time of the collision.

5. The Court Properly Denied Instruction P-12: Plaintiff's Jury Instruction 12 regarding the duties of B & B's driver upon realizing that Martin would not stop at the stop sign, plaintiff's second "alternate theory," were fully covered in Jury Instruction P-13 and in Jury Instruction D-19. Defendant's Jury Instruction 19 is consistent with *Vines v. Windham*, 606 So.

2d 128 (Miss. 1992) and *Greyhound Lines, Inc. v. Sutton*, 765 So. 2d 1269 (Miss. 2000). Further, it was granted by the Court in conjunction with plaintiff's Jury Instruction 13. In *Vines*, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that "a driver who approaches an intersection at which he has the right of way is entitled to assume that crossing traffic will obey stop signs, look for oncoming vehicles before entering the intersection, and yield to through traffic." *Vines*, 765 So. 2d at 131. The Mississippi Supreme Court has also held that "a driver has no duty to take defensive action until such time as a reasonable person would know a car approaching an intersection will not stop." *Greyhound Lines, Inc.*, 765 So. 2d at 1273. As noted above, the subject instruction is clearly a proper statement of law. When plaintiff's Jury Instruction 13 is considered along with defendant's Jury Instruction 19 and the other instructions given, the jury was correctly instructed as to the duties of B & B's driver. Plaintiff's claim that the denial of Instruction P-12 had the effect of failing to properly instruct the jury is incorrect, as the instructions read as a whole properly presented plaintiff's theory of the case. The jury simply chose to reject plaintiff's theory.

6. The Court Properly Granted Instruction D-16: Defendant's Jury Instruction 16 is consistent with and tracked the language of Miss. Code Ann. § 63-3-901, entitled "Stopping, standing or parking prohibited in specified places." It must be kept in mind that it was the plaintiff, not the defendant, who contended through one of her so-called "alternate theories" that Mr. Martin was stopped in the roadway. Plaintiff asserted that this instruction was improperly granted because it does not continue to address the duties of B & B's driver after he realized the location of Mr. Martin's vehicle. As stated above, however, the duties of B & B's driver were addressed in various other instructions of the Court, including a lookout instruction. The plaintiff,

and specifically her expert, presented a theory which supported giving Jury Instruction D-16. Jury Instruction D-16 is an accurate statement of law and it was properly granted.

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